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=STRATEGIC REPORT : ’ ' ’ : . . . .

The directors of Adam & Company pIc (“the Company")'present their annual feport, together with audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with international
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union (EU)

ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
Principal acnwﬂes

"The principal activity of the.Company continues to be the provision. of a range of banking and financial services.
The. Company continues to focus on its core ‘activities of supplying its banking and wealth management services to high
net worth individuals and their businesses and will continue to concentrate on improving the quality and depth of the
services provnded whilst leveraging lts connectnon with The Royal Bank of Sconand Group plc (RBS).
The Company contmues to be part of the Commercial & Private Banklng busmess within RBS which provides support and
access to all central resources. Copies of the consolidated accounts of the ultimate holding company may be obtained .
from Corporate Govemance and Regulatory Affairs, RBS Gogarburn, PO Box 1000, Edinburgh EH12 1HQ. .
As part of the Commercnal and Private Bankung Franchlse within RBS, the Company s-performance is measured via

targets focusing on customer satisfaction, employee engagement and financial returns. The Company’s key priorities are
to develop the best client experience, invest in a high performing culture, deepen needs met for sustannable growth,

optimise the operating model and simplify” the business.
Bu_siness |jeview

The directors are satisfied with the Company'’s trading performance during the year.

Performance highlights o 2016 o ' " 2015
. . : ‘ £m : -£m
Total income _ o 30 - : 32
- Operating expenses .- : (22) - : ’ (28)
Underlying profit before provnsnons : ’ o 8 " 4
Impairment release/ (loss) : . . 2 . - 2)
Operating profit before tax  * . o 10 ’ ) 2
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year R 2
" Loans and advances to customers - o 660 , ' 651
Customer accounts . 1,777 . . 1,640
Cost:income ratio : v . . 73.9% 88.1%
-~ Return on equity ’ . 8.2% ' . 2.1%
Customer loan:deposit ratio : 37.1% . 39.7%
Financial performance

The Company'’s financial performance is presented in the Statement of Comprehensive .Income on page 9.

~ The Company reported a retained profit for the year after tax of £7m- (2015 £2m) dnven by a reduction in operating
- expenses which was partly offset by a reduction in income.

Total income decreased by £2m (2015: £4m). Growth in deposns and lending has been offset by the impact of a lower
interest rate enwronment .

Operatlng expenses decreased by £6m (2015 increased by £11m). 2015 included one off costs attnbutable to systems
write off relating to the reorganisation of the wider Private Banking division within RBS. This saw the costiincome ratio
decrease from 88.1% to 73.9% during the year.

2016 delivered a return on equity of 8.2% (201 5:2.1%)and a cost: income ratio of 73.9% (2015: 88.1%).
- Loansand advances to customers increased by £9m (2015: decreased by £11m) and 'Customer accounts-increased by

£137m (2015: decreased by £50m). This resulted in a decrease in the customer loan:deposit ratio to 37. 1% (2015:
39.7%). -
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Business review (continued)

Other matters

The Company is funded by a combination of customer deposits, foreign currency deposits and facilities from RBS.
Excess cash arising from deposits in excess of the Company’s funding requirements is placed with RBS. The Company
seeks to minimise its exposure to various external financial risks for which further information is disclosed in note 18 to
the financial statements. Deposits placed with the RBS Group companies amounted to £1,375m (2015: £1,255m).

Ring-fencing

The UK ring-fencing legislation which requires the separation of essential banking services from investment banking
services will take effect from 1 January 2019. The final ring-fenced legal structure of RBS and the actions to be taken o
achieve it remain subject to, amongst other factors, additional regulatory, Board and other approvals as well as employee
information and consultation procedures. Under the current proposed ring-fenced structure, the majority of the existing
personal, private, business and commercial customers of The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (“RBS pic”) will be transferred
to the Company during 2018. At the same time the Company will be renamed RBS pic and will remain part of the ring-
fenced bank.

Although Adam & Company will no longer operate as an independent legal entity as it does today, it will continue to trade
under the Adam & Company brand and its core activities will remain unchanged. Adam & Company will continue to serve
its customers as it does today.

Accounting policies

The reported results of the Company are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie the
preparation of its financial statements. Details of the Company’s critical accounting policies and key sources of estimation
uncertainty are included in the accounting policies on pages 18 to 19.

Risk management

The principal risks associated with the Company’s businesses are currency, interest rate, conduct, liquidity, credit,
regulatory, reputational and operational risk. RBS has established a comprehensive framework which the Company
complies with for managing these risks, which is continually evolving as the business activities change in response to
market, credit, product and other developments.

The Company’s policies for managing each of these risks and its exposure thereto are detailed in note 18 to the financial
statements.

Outlook

The Company continues to be part of the Commercial & Private Banking business within the wider RBS Group. Being
closer to the Commercial business is a cornerstone of the Company's longer term strategy and a key source of future
clients which has already begun to generate business. The Company will continue to serve the needs of high net worth
individuals, deepen relationships with commercia! clients and provide private banking ‘services to successful business
owners and entrepreneurs.

The vote-to leave the EU was widely expected to have a negative impact on the economy. So far, there has been a
significant fall in sterling, but consumer spending has remained robust, and growth has continued. The UK has not yet
left the EU, and the terms of its departure are not known andthe long-term impact remains impossible to predict. The
Company's prime focus through this uncertain period has been, and will continue to be, to provide high quality banking
and investment services to its clients and to help them to understand the implications of change.

The directors remain confident that the Company is well positioned to meet the continuing challenges of the evolving
regulatory environment it operates within, external pressures and changing customer needs. They consider the Company
to be in a stable financial position and confirm that they have adequate resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future.

Date: 25 April 2017 .
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- The Strategic Report includes the financial review of the year including fisk management.
Employee policies -
Staff involverient
"The Company has adopted RBS employee policies and processes.

‘The Company values the input of its employees and actively seeks opportunities to engage with' staff at all levels and
invites them to contribute to on-going dialogue and activities. The annual survey of employee opinions, known as Our. -
View, provides valuable data to decision makers across the Group in support of improving employee engagement and
satisfaction. We track our progress through pulse surveys and ask questlons used by other organisations so we can
~ compare oursglves against our financial peers.

In 2015, the Company launched ‘Determined to lead'. It is the means by which leaders put our values into practice every -

- day and is transforming the way we operate by creating a common language, consistent operating rhythm-and improving
the competence of our leaders across the Company. it provides consistent tools to lead and engage our people. This

programme has contlnued in 2016, S . :

Employeés across the Company continue to widely support, both financially and through volunteering, many community
and other worthy causes. Such giving is encouraged by the use of payroll giving and staff charity funds which support
worthy causes .at local, national and international level. Every June, employees come together to raise funds for local and
. national charities. “Give A Day” offers employees an extra days annual leave to give their time as volunteers and
fundraisers to a chanty or cause that matters to them ‘

-

Employment of disabled persons

The Company's policy is that disabled persons are considered for employment and subsequent training, career
development and promotion based on merit. The Company’s disability plan is to become’a disability smart organisation by
2018. It addresses areas for improvement including branch access, accessible services, improving employee adjustment
processes and inserting dlsablllty checkpomts into our key processes and practices.

- Diversity
The Compahy values and promotes diversity in all areas of recruitment and employment. Building a working environment
- whereall our employees can develop to their full potential is important to us irrespective of, their age, belief, disability,
ethnic or national .origin, gender, gender identity, marital or civil partnership status, political opinion, race, religion or
sexual orientation. We work hard to avoid limiting potential through bias, prejudice or discrimination. We base the
employment relationship on the principles of fairness, respect and inclusion. We comply with local laws on equality and
Our Code to build and.develop an inclusive workforce in order to understand and respond to our diverse customer base.
Safety, health and wellbeing
_Wellbemg is an integral part of how we create a great place to work.

The Company offers a wide range of health benefits and services to help malntaln physma! and mental health and
. support our people if they become unwell

In 2016, the focus was on physical,. mental health and social wellbeing. Opportunmes to improve the efficiency and.
effectiveness :of safety, health and weIIbemg management policies and services were monitored and, where. relevant,
implemented.

Details of the number of employees and related costs can be found in note 3.

Share capital

Analysis.of share capital can-be found in note 17 to the financial statements.
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Dlrectors and company secretary

.

’ The names of the current members of the Board of Directors and Company Secretary are shown on page 1

From 1 January 2016 to date, the followmg changes have taken place:

. Appointed . Resigned
. Director . . | . . :
M J Morley 4 S S - - _ 17 March 2016
P G Flavel ‘ ' " 17 March 2016 A ~
B M Mulholland - : : R : " 22 August 2016
MR Regan - o : ' 31 October 2016 -

B McCrindle . o B ' - o 30 December 2016
In accordance with the Articles of Association, the directors are not required to retire by rotation.

Directors’ indemnities

In terms of Section 236 of the Companles Act 2006, all dlrectors hsted on page 1 have been granted ‘Qualifying Third
Party Indemmty Provisions by RBS.

. Polltlcal contributions

No contributions were made to any political party (2015: £nil). -

Going concern

The Company’s business .activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and
position, including principal risks, are set out in the Business review on pages 2 and 3.

The financial position of the Company, its cash flows, liquidity position, capital and funding sources are set out in the . -
financial statements. Notes 8, 18 and 27 to the-financial statements include the Company’s objectives, policies and
processes for. managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and its’
: exposures to credit and Ilqundlty risks. :

The directors, having made such enquiries as they considered appropriate, having reasonable expectation that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis. In reaching their conclusion they considered the announcement of results

-by RBS for the year ended 31 December 2016, approved on 23 February 2017, which were prepared on a going concemn
basis. )

Dividends
’An interim dividend of £10m was approved on v16 June 2016 and subsequently paid (20i5: £nil). ‘
The directors do not'recommend .the payment of a final 'dividend (2015: £ni|). -

Post balance sheet events - - '

There have been no significant events between the year end and the date of approval of the fmancral statemenls which
: would require a change or additional disclosure or amendment in the fmancnal statements.
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Directors’ disclosure to auditor
Each of the directors at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
e so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is
unaware; and
e the director has taken all steps he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself aware

of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies
Act 2006.

Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP has expressed its willingness to continue in office as auditor.

A resolution to re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting. .

By order of the Board:

/’

Date: 25 April 2017
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

This statement should be read in conjunction with the responsibilities of the auditor set out in their report on page 8.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the Annual Report and Accounts which include the Strategic Report,
Directors’ Report and the accounts. The Directors, as permitted by the Companies Act 2006, have elected to prepare
company accounts, for each financial year in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the European Union. They are responsible for preparing accounts that present fairly the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of the Company. In preparing those accounts, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

¢ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the accounts; and ’

 make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the Annual Report and Accounts complies with
the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge:

¢ the financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the
Company; and

e the Strategic Report (incorporating the Business review) includes a fair review of the development and performance
of the business and the position of the Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face.

Date: 25 April 2017 .



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBER OF ADAM & COMPANY PLC.

We have audited the financial statements of Adam & Company plc (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2016 which
comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Cash Flow Statement
and the related Notes 1 to 26. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
International Financia! Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

This report is made solely to the Company's member, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s member those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s member as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 7, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and
express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company's circumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation
of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on,
or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2016 and of the Company's profit for the
year then ended;

e have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union; and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
e the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements;
e the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have identified
no material misstatements in the Strategic Report or Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our
opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

C-\/k "‘\'(,\_,J NP

Michael-John Albert (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Statutory Auditor

London, United Kingdom

Date: 26 April 2017
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$TATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME for the year ended 31 December 2016

2016

5C083026

. : A : . ‘ . 2015
Continuing operations : : , - Notes . £'000 £'000
Interest receivable ' C 29,806 31,837
Interest payable (5,342) (5,901) ,
Net interest income : . - : 1 24,464 25,936
Fees and commission receivable ' 4,320 4,826 .
Fees and commission payable (157) (68).
Income from trading activities 1,172 986
Non-interest income - ' e ‘ 2 5,335 5,744
Total income 29,799 31,680
Operating expenses - e - - E "3 (22,008) (27.911) -
.Operating profit before impairment 7,791 3,769 .
Impairment releases/(los'sés) on loans and advancgs S 9. 1,764 . (499)
Impairment of intangible assets o o : 10 - (1,069)
Profit before tax 9,555 . 2,201.
Taxcharge . . ' L .6 (2,790) (435)

6,765 "~ 1,766

Profit-and total comprehensive income for the year -

The accompanying accounting bolic_ies and notes form an integral part of these fina_hcia'l statements.
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BALANCE SHEET as at 31 December 2016

2016 2015
) " Notes £'000 £'000
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 8 229 377
Loans and advances to banks 8 1,384,668 1,264,058
Loans and advances to customers 8 660,235 651,044
Settlement balances 8 1,207 326
Derivatives 8,12 . 14
Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 8,13 24,426 23,825
Property, plant and equipment 8, 11 563 770
Deferred tax asset 8,15 130 144
Total assets » 2,071,458 - 1,940,558
Liabilities
Deposits by banks 8 182,150 178,175
Customer accounts 8 1,777,292 1,639,705
Settlement balances 8 3 1
Derivatives 8,12 - 10
Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities 8,14 27,325 34,744
Provisions for liabilities and charges 8,16 1,948 1,948
Total liabilities 1,988,718 1,854,583
Equity
Shareholders’ equity: .
Called up.share capital . 17 19,548 19,548
Retained earnings and reserves 63,192 66,427
Total equity 8 82,740 85,975
Total liabilities and equity ) 2,071,458 1,940,558

- The ‘aocompa'n'yi'ng accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 April 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

M R Regan
Director
- Date: 25 April 2017

Managing Director
Date: 25 April 2017

10
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, STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY for the'year ended 31 December 2016 ;

2016

$C083026

2015

, : -__Notes *  £000 __£000
Called up share capital ' . ' ' . .

" At 1 January and 31 December . : : _ 17 . 19,548 19,548
Retained earnings ; ‘ . C
" At1January CoL ' SRS S ‘66,212 64,446
Profit for the. year . a IR A ' ' . 6,765 1,766
Dividends paid - : ) } : , 7 - -, {(10,000) - :
At'31 December a ‘ . ‘ ' 62,977. 66,212

Revaluation reserves | : _ R
At 1 January and 31 December . ] "' ‘ ] 215 215
Shareholders’ equity at 31 December ’ - .‘ 82,740 85,975

The accompanying acé_ounting policies and notes form an infegral part of these financial statements.

11
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. CASH FLOW STATEMENT for the year ended 31 December 2016

2016

SC083026

Cash and cash equivalents 31 ,December CE . 22

- 2015
o Notes £'000 £'000
Operating activities : ' : '
AOperatmg profit for the year before tax 9,555 2,201
- Adjustments for: : o '
Loss on disposal of property plant and equipment - 110 -
Elimination of foreign exchange differences " 25 28
Depreciation and amortisation 97 346 .
Impairment of intangible assets - ~1,069
Movement in impairment provision for foans and advances " (2,588) (1,646)
Provisions for liabilities.and charges - 1,575
Other non-cash items (203) (419)
Net cash flows from trading activities ' . ‘ - 20 6,996 3,154
Changes in operating assets and liabilities ' ) 79,450 (32,895)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operatmg activities before tax - 86,446 _ (29,741)
Tax paid ’ 20 © {481) (3,929)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operatmg activities ) ' : 85,965 (33,670)
" Investing activities ' . .
Purchase of property, plant'and equipment . : : ' 11 - - (19)
Net cash flows used in investing activities ) - (19)
Financing activities . ’
Equity dividends paid : - : : 7 (10,000) -
Net cash flows used in financing activities " ' (10,000) -
. ‘Effect of exchange rate chén‘ges o 17,09‘( ' 1,850
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ) 93,062 (31,839)
. Cash and cash equivalents 1 January - ' 22 . 821,817 853,656
914,879 821,817

M Change in methodology for- elimination of foreign exchange-difference, applied to 2015. This resulted in restatement of numbers reported in prior year

(previously reported as £1,850k).

The accompanying ac_counting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

-
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES for the year ended 31 December 2016 -

1. Presentation of financial statéments .

The frnancral statemerits are prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with International Financial Fieportrng ‘
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and interpretations.issued by the International .

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB (together IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (BU).

- The financial statements are prepared on-the historical cost basis except that the following-assets and liabilities are stated
at their fair vaiue: derivative financial instruments that are classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

The Company is mcorporated in the United Kingdom and registered in Scotland The Company s financial statements are
presented in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. .

Adoption of new and revised standards

A number of IFRSs and amendments to IFRS were in issue at 31 December 2016 that would affect the Company from 1
January 2017 or later: . .

In January 2016 the IASB amended IAS 7 '‘Cash Fiow Statements’ to requrre disclosure of the movements in financrng
: Irabilitres The amendment is effective from1 January 2017. ‘

In January 2016, the IASB amended 1AS 12 ‘Income taxes’ to clarify the recognrtron of deferred tax assets in respect of
unrealised losses The amendment is effective from 1 January 2017:

Neither of these amendments is expected to have a material effect on the company'’s financial statements.

Effective ‘after 2017 - IFRS 9

- In July 2014, the IASB published IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ with an effective date of 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 replaces
- the current financiat instruments standard IAS 39, setting out new accounting requirements in a number of areas. The
Company is continuing its assessment of the standard’s effect on its financial statements.

The principle.features of IFRS 9 are as follows:

Recognition and derecognition

The material in IAS 39 setting out the criteria for the recognrtion and derecognrtion of frnancral mstruments has been
included unamended in IFRS 9. . .

Classification and measUreme‘nt

Financial assets - There are three cIassrfrcatrons for financial assets in IFRS 9 fair value through profit or loss; fair value
through other comprehensrve income; and amortrsed cost.

a) Financial assets wrth terms that give rise to interest and principal cash flows only and which are held in’a business
model whose objective is to hold financial assets to coliect their cash flow are measured at amortised cost.

b) Financial assets with terms that give rise to interest and principal cash flows only and which are held in a business
model whose objective is achieved by holding financial assets to collect their cash flow and selling them are measured at
fair value through other comprehensive rncome :

c¢) Other financial assets are measured at fair value through profit and loss.

However at.initial recognitron any financial asset may be |rrevocably designated as measured at fair value through pfOfIt

or loss if such desrgnatron eliminates a measurement or recognition rnconsrstency
A

The company.continues to evaluate the overall effect, but expects, that the measurement basis. of the majority of the
co’mpany's financial assets will be unchanged on application of IFRS 9.

Financial liabilities - IFRS 9’s requirements on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities are largely
unchanged from those in IAS 39. However, there is a change to the tréatment of changes in the fair value attributabte to
own credit risk"of financial liabilities designated. as at fair.value through profit or loss which are recognised in other
comprehensive income and not in profit or loss as required by 1AS 39

Hedge accounting

Hedge accounting requirements are designed to align accounting more closely to the risk management framework; permit
a greater variety of hedging instruments; and remove or simplify some of the rule-based requirements in IAS 39. The
basic mechanics of hedge accounting: fair value, cash flow and net investment hedges are retained.

13-
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" ACCOUNTING POLICIES for the year ended 31 December 2016 |
1. Presentatlon ‘of financial statements (contmued)

There is an option in IFRS 9 for an accountlng policy choice to continue with the IAS 39 hedge accounting framework.
The Company is actively considering its implementation approach

Credit impairment

IFRS 9's credit impairment requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost, to those measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income, to certain foan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. On initial
recognition a loss allowance is established at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (‘ECL’) that is the
- portion of life-time expected losses resulting from default events that are possible within the next 12 months.

Where a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified, the loss allowance increases so as to
recognise all expected default events over the expected life of the asset. The Company expects that financial assets
where there is objective .evidence of impairment under IAS39 will be credit impaired under IFRS 9, and carry loss
allowances based on all expected default events.

The assessment of credit risk and the estimation- of ECL are required to be unbiased and probability-weighted:
determined by evaluating at the reporting date for each customer or loan portfolio a range of possible outcomes using
reasonable and supportable information about ‘past events, current conditions and forecasts of future events and
economic conditions. The ‘estimation of ECL also takes into account the time value of money. Recogmtlon and
measurement of credit impairments under IFRS 9 are more forward-looking than under IAS 39.

A programme has been established to implement the necessary changes in the modelling of credit loss parameters, and -
the underlying credit management and financial processes; this programme is led jointly by Risk and Finance. The
inclusion of loss allowances on all financial assets will tend to result in an increase in overall impairment balances when
compared with the existing basis of measurement under IAS 39.

The classification ‘and measurement and rmparrment requirements are applred retrospectively by adjusting the openlng
Balance Sheet at the date of initial application, with no requirement to restate comparative periods. Hedge accountlng is
generaIIy applied prospectively from that date

Effective after 2017 - other standards

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ was issued in May 2014.° It will replace IAS 11 ‘Construction
Contracts’, IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and several Interpretations. Contracts are bundied or unbundled into distinct performance
oblrgatlons with revenue recognlsed as the obligations are met It is effective from 1 January 2018

The Company is assessing the effect of adopting these standards on its financial statements.
2. Revenue recognition

Interest income on financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables and interest expense on financial liabilities
other than those measured at fair value are determined using the effective interest method. The effective interest method -
is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability (or-group. of financial assets or
liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the expected life of the asset or liability. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows to the instrument's initial carrying
amount. Calculation of the effective interest rate takes into account fees payable or receivable that are an integral part of
“the instrument's yield, premiums or discounts. on acquisition or issue; early redemption fees and transaction costs. All
contractual terms of a financial instrument are considered when estimating future cash flows. -

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified as fair value through prom or loss are recorded at fair value. Changes in
fair value are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensrve Income.

Commitment and utilisation fees are determlned asa percentage of the outstanding facility. 1f it is unlikely that a specific
lending arrangement will be entered into, such fees are taken to profit or loss otherwise they are deferred and included in -
the effective interest rate on the advance. . .

Fees in respect of services are recognised as the right to consideration accrues through the provision of the service to the
customer.. The arrangements are generally contractual and-the cost of providing the service is incurred as the service is
rendered. The price is usually fixed and always determinable. Brokerage commissions are recognised in revenues when
trades are processed. Fees charged for managing investments are recognised as revenue as the services are provided.
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"ADAM & COMPANY PLC ‘ : ‘ ) . SC083026
ACCOUNTING POLICIES for the 'year erided 31 December 2016
2. Revenue recogmtlon (contlnued)

Incremental costs that are directly attnbutabte to securing an mvestment management contract are deferred and charged
as expense as the related revenue is recognlsed The application of this pohcy to significant fee types is outllned below:

Payment services: this comprises income received for payment services including cheques cashed direct debtts
Clearing House Automated Payments-{the UK electronic settlement system) and BACS payments (the automated
clearing house that processes direct debits and direct credits). These are generally charged on a per transaction basis.
The-income is earned when the payment or transaction occurs. Charges for payment services are usually debited to the
customer’s account monthly or quarterly in arrears. Income is accrued at year end for services provided but not charged.

Fees and commissions payab/e fees and commissions are payable in respect of services provnded by third party
tntermedlanes .These are charged through the proflt and loss over the life of the underlylng product. . :

3. Employee benefits
This policy should be read in conjunction with Note 4 on page 21.

. Short-term employee benefits, such as salaries, paid absences, and other benefits are accounted for on an accruals
basis over the period in which the employees provide the related services. Employees may receive variable
compensation satisfied by cash, by debt instruments issued by RBS or by RBS shares. Variable compensation that is
settled in cash or debt instruments is charged to profit or loss over the period from the start of the year to which the
variable compensation relates to the expected settlement date taking account of forfeiture and claw back criteria.

RBS provides post- retlrement benefits in the form of pensions and healthcare plans to ellglble employees on behatf of the
"~ Company. :

~ There is no contractual agreement or policy on the way that the cost of RBS defined benefit pension schemes and
healthcare plans are allocated to the Company It therefore accounts for the charges it incurs as payments to a.defined
contribution scheme.

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised in the'income statement when payable.
_ 4. Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised, and subsequently measured, at fair value. Derivative fair values
are determined from quoted prices in active markets where available. Where there is no active market for an instrument,
fair value is derived from prices for the derivative’s components using appropriate pricing or ‘valuation models.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of a derivative are recognised as they arise in non- -interest mcome )
within profit or loss.

5. Intangtble assets

Intangible assets- acqmred by the Company are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and tmpalrment losses.
Amortisation is charged to profit or loss over the assets’ estimated economic lives using methods that best reflect the
pattern of economic benefits and is included in depreciation and amortisation within operating expenses.

‘Capitalisation of costs ceases when the software is capable of operating as intended. During and.after development,
accumulated costs are reviewed for impairment against the benefits that the software is expected to generate. Costs
incurred prior to the establishment of technical feasibility and economic viability are expensed as incurred as are all
training costs and general overheads. The costs of licences to use computer software that are expected to generate
economic benefits beyond one year are also capitalised.

6. Property, plant and equipment’

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated. i'mpairment
losses. Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major components having different useful lives, they
are accounted for separately ' :

Depreciation is charged to the Statement of Comprehensnve Income on a straight-line basis so as to wnte off the
" depreciable amount of property, plant and equupment over their estimated useful lives.
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6. Pt'operty, plant and equipment (continued)

The depremable amount is the cost of an asset less its resndual value. The estimated useful lives of the Companys
property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Freehold and long leasehold buildings ' 50 years

Short leaseholds ' , Unexpired period of the lease
Computer equipment Up to 5 years .
Other equtpment : . 4 to 15 years

The residual value and useful life of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each balance sheet date and updated
for any changes.

7. Revaluation reserve

The revaluatlon reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses on the revaluation of property occupied by
Company's businesses, included within property, plant and equipment. If the revaluation results in an increase in value, it
should be credited to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. unless it represents the reversal of a
revaluation decrease of the same asset. previously recognised as an expense, in which case it should be recognised in
profit and loss. The revaluation reserve is not distributable. _ ' ‘

8. Impairment of intangible asSets and property, plant and equipment

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is any-indication that property, plant and eduipment are
impaired. If any such indication exists, . the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset and the impairment
loss, if any. .

If an asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from those of other assets or groups of asseéts, the
" recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. A cash-generating unit is the
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating-unit is the higher of its fair value
fess cost to selt and its value-in-use. Value-in-use is the present value of future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit discounted at a rate that reflects market.interest rates adjusted for risks specific to the asset or cash-
generating unit that have not been taken into account in estimating future cash flows. if the recoverable amount of a
tangible asset is-less than its carrying value, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the carrying value of the asset reduced by the amount of the loss. A reversal of an
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment is recognised as it arises prov:ded the increased carrylng value is not
greater than it would have been had no impairment loss been recogmsed . .

9. Foreign currencies
The Company'’s financial statements are presented in Sterling, which.is the functional currency of the Cqmpany.

Transactions in foreign currencies are transfated into Sterfing at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the
. transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at the rates of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are reported in income
from trading acttvmes ’

10. Provisions and contingent'li'abilities

The Company recognises a provision for a present obligation resulting from a past event whenv it is more likely than not
that it, will be required to transier economic benehts to settle the obligation and the amount of the obltgatlon can be
estlmated reliably. . .

Provision is made for restructuring costs, including the costs of redundancy, when the Cbmpany has a constructive
obligation to restructure. An obligation exists when the Company-has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation |n those affected by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features.

If. the Company has a contract that is onerous, it recogniseés the present obligation under the contract as a provision. An
onerous contract is one where the unavoidable costs of meeting the Company’s contractual obligations exceed the
expected economic benefits. :

Contingent Iiabi!_ities are possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by
uncertain future events, or present obligations arising from past events that are not recognised because either an outflow
of economic benefits is not probable or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably measured. Contingent liabilities are
not recognised but information about them is dlsclosed unless the possibility of any outflow of economic beneftts in
settlement is remote. :
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11. Taxation '

Income tax expense or income combrising current tax and deferred tax, is recorded in the income statement except
income tax on items recognised outside profrt or foss which is credited or charged to other comprehensive income .of to
equity as appropnate

Current tax is income tax payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or loss for the year arising in profit or loss
other comprehensive income or equity. Provision is made for current tax at rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable in respect of temporary differences between the carrying
amount of an asset or liability for accounting purposes and its carrying amount for tax purposes. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that they will be' recovered. Deferred tax is not recognised on temporary differences that arise from initial
recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction (other than a business combination) that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates expected to apply in the
- periods when the assets will be realised or the liabilities settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted, or substantively
enacted, at the balance sheet date. : .

12. Financial assets

On initial recognition financial assets are cIassrfled into designated as at fair value through profrt or loss or loans and
réceivables. .

Designated at fair value through profit or loss — financial assets may be designated at Fair Value through profit or loss
only if such designation: (a) eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency; or (b) applies
to a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both, that the Company manages and evaluates on a fair value basis;
or (c) relates to an instrument that contains an embedded derivative which is not evidently closely related to the host
contract.

Financial assets and liabilities that the Company designates on initial recognition as being at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised at fair value, with transaction costs being recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and

. are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses on financial assets that are classified as at fair value through
profit or loss are recogmsed in the Statement of Comprehenswe Income as they arise. .

Loans and receivables - non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable repayments that are not quoted in an
active market are classified as loans and receivables, except those that are designated as fair value through profit or loss.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair vaiue plus directly related transaction costs. They are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method (see accounting policy 2) less any impairment losses.

Fair value — fair value for a net open position in a financial asset that is quoted in an active market is the current bid price
.times the number of units of the instrument held. Fair values for financial assets not quoted in an active market are
determined using appropriate valuation techniques mcludlng discounting future cash flows, option pricing models and
other methods that are consistent with accepted economic methodologles for prrcrng financial assets. .

13. Impalrment of fmancrai assets

“The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a-financial asset or
group of financial assets classified as loans and receivables is impaired. A financial asset or portfolio of financial assets is
-impaired and an impairment loss incurred if there is objective evidence that an event or events since initial recognrtron of
- the asset have adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash flows from the asset. :

Financial assets carried at amort/sed cost — if there is objectlve evidence that an impairment loss ona flnancral asset or
group of financial assets classified as loans and receivables has been incurred, the Company measures the amount of
the loss as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets-and the present value of estimated
future cash flows from the asset or group of assets discounted at the effective interest rate of the instrument at initial
recognition. For collateralised loans and receivables, estimated future cash flows include cash flows that may result from
foreclosure less the costs of obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensrve Income and the carrying amount of the financial
asset or group of financial assets reduced by establishing an allowance for impairment losses. If, in a subsequent year,
the amount of the impairment loss reduces and the reduction can be ascribed to an event after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance. Once an impairment loss has been
recognised on a financial asset or group of financial assets, interest income is recognised on the carrying amount using
the rate of interest at which estimated future cash flows were discounted in measuring impairment.
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13. |mpairm-ent of financial aseets (continued)

Impaired loans and receivables are written-off, i.e. the impairment provision is applied in writing down the loan’s carrying
.value partially or in full, when the Company concludes that there is no longer any realistic prospect of recovery of part or
all of the loan. The timing of write off is determined on a case-by-case basis. Such loans are reviewed regularly and wnte
offs wilt be prompted by bankruptcy, msolvency, renegotiation and similar events.

Amounts recovered after a loan has been wntten off are credited to lhe loan impairment charge for the year in WhtCh they
‘are received.

14. Financial liabilities-

On initial recognition financial liabilities are classified into des;gnéled as at fair value through profit or loss or amortised-
cost. Issues of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are recognised on settlement date; all-other regular way
transactlons in financial llabthtles are recognised on trade date. .

DeSIgnated as at fair value through profit or loss - financial liabilities may be designated as at fair value through profit or
loss only if such classification (a) eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency; or (b)
applies tosa group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both that.the Company manages and evaluates on a fair value
‘basis; or (c) relates to an instrument that coritains an embedded -derivative which is not evidently closely related to the
host contract. . .

Ftnanmat ||abI|ltleS that the Company desighates -on initial recognition as being at fair value through profit or Ioss are
recognised at fair value, with transaction costs being recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, and are
subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses on financial liabilities that are classified as fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as they arise.

Fair value - fair value for a net open position in a financial liability that is quoted in an active market is the current offer
price times the number of units of the instrument held or issued. Fair values for financial liabilities not quoted in an active
market are determined using appropriate valuation techniques including discounting future cash flows, option pricing
models and other methods that are consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financiat Ii’abilities.

‘Amomsed cost - aII other fmancnal Itabllmes are measured at amortised cost using the effective mterest method (see
accounting policy 2). . )

15. Cash and cash equivalenté

in the Cash Flow Statement cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and demand deposits with banks together with
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and sub;ect to m5|gnmcant risk
of change in value such as cash collateral held with banks and settlement systems. -

_16. Financial guarantee contracts

Under a financial guarantee contract, the Company, in return for a fee, undertakes to meet a customer's-obligations under
the terms of a debt instrument if the customer fails to do so. A financial guarantee is recognised as a liability; initially at
fair value and, if not designated as at fair value through profit or loss, subsequently at the higher of its initial value less
cumulative amortisation and any provnsmn under the contract measured in accordance with accountlng policy 10.
Amortisation is calculated so as to recognise fees receivable in profit or [0ss over the period of the guarantee.

- Critical accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty .

The reported resuits of the Company are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie the
preparation of its financial statements. UK company taw and IFRS require the directors, in preparing the Company’s .
financial statements, fo select suitable accounting policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and .estimates,
that are reasonable and prudent. in the absence of an applicable standard of interpretation; IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies,
Changes in. Accounting Estimates and Errofs’ requires management to develop and apply an accounting policy that resuits
in relevant and reliable information in the light of the requirements and guidance in IFRS dealing with similar and related
issues and the IASB’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of financial statements.

The judgements and assumptions involved in the Company’s accounting policies that are considered by the Board to be’

the most important to the portrayal of its financial condition are discussed below. The use of estimates, assumptions or
models that differ from those adopted by the Company would affect its reported results. . '
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Critical accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) .

Loan impairment provisions :
_The Company’s loan impairment provisions are establlshed to-recognise incurred |mpa|rment Iosses in its portfolio of loans
classifiéd as loans and receivables and carried at amortised cost. A loan is impaired where there is objective evidence that
events since the loan was granted have affected expected cash flows from the loan. Such objective evidence, indicative
that a borrower’s financial position has deteriorated, can include for loans that are individually assessed: the non-payment
" of interest or principal; debt renegotiation; probable bankruptcy or liquidation; significant reduction in the value of any
-~ security; breach of limits or covenants; and deteriorating trading performance and, for collectively assessed portfolios: the
~ borrower’'s payment status and observable data about relevant macroeconomic measures. The impairment loss is the
difference between the carrying value of the loan.and the present value of estimated future cash flows at the loan’s orlglnal
) effectlve interest rate.

At 31 December 2016, gross loans and advances to customers totalled £662,812k (2015 £656,412k) and customer foan
impairment provisions amounted to £2,577k (2015: £5,368Kk). .

There are two components to the Company’s loan imp’airment provisionS' individual and latent.

Individual component - all loans are mdtvndually assessed for lmpalrment Impairment losses are recogmsed as the
difference between the carrying value of the loan and the discounted value of management's best estimate of. future cash
repayments and proceeds from any security held. These estimates take into account the customer’s debt capacity and
financial flexibility; the level and quality of its earnings; the amount and sources of cash flows; the industry inwhich the
counterparty operates; and the realisable value of any security held. Estimating the quantum and timing of future
recoveries involves significant judgement. The size of receipts will depend on the future performance of the borrower and
the value of security. The actual amount of future- cash flows and the date they are received may differ from these
estimates and consequently actual losses incurred may differ from those recognised in these financial statements.

Latent component — this is made up of loan losses that have been incurred but have not been separately identified at the
balance sheet date. Latent loss provisions are held against estimated impairment losses in the performing portfolio that
have yet to be.identified as at the balance sheet date. To assess-the latent loss within its portfolios, the Company has
developed methodologies to estimate the time that an asset can remaln impaired within a performing portfolio before it is
- identified and reported as such
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1. Netinterest income

. 2016 2015

. : A £'000 - ~ £'000
Loans and advances to customers . Lo A . 19,529 21,169
Loans and advances to banks ' . ) 10,277 10,668
* Interest receivable ' . 29,806 _ 31,837
_ Customer accounts , ‘ | : (3,219) . (4,239)
Deposits by banks ' _ L : (2,123) . (1,662) . -
. Interest payable - . ] : (5,342) (5,901)
Net interestincome . - ‘ _. o o : 24464 250936
‘2. Non-interest income '
- 2016 - 2015
. £'000 £'000
Fees and commission receivable ) o N . . 4,320 - 4,826
Fees and commission payable ’ : . ) (157) (68)
_ income from trading activities: ] . . )
Foreign exchange(” - . : 1,172 986

Non-interest income : - 5,335 5,744

(1) The analysis of trading income is based on how the business i is organised and the underlying risks managed Forelgn exchange includes spot and
forward foreign exchange contracts.

3. Operatmg expenses

2016 2015

. . : £'000 £'000

Wages, salaries and other staff costs . ) 4,147 3,948
Social security costs S - C4an 376
Pension costs , ‘ ' ' 442 516
Staff costs : : C ’ . 5,000 " 4,840
Intangiblé assets amortisation (see Note 10) . ‘ . o - ' 193
Property, plant and equipment depreciation (see Note 11) _ : : 97 153

- Depreciation & amortisation : . . . 97 346
Premises and equipment A . N ) 511 ' 485
Other administrative expenses o ) ) T " 16,400 22,240
Other expenses . . . ) 16,911 22,725
" Operating expenses . : 22,008 27,911

-(1) The decrease is on account of system recharges/write off cost due to the ieorganisation of the wider Private Banking division in 2015. The majority of
other administrative expenses relate to recharges for.IT systems maintenance costs.

The avérage number of persons.employed by the Company during the year was made up'as follows:

2016 2015

Empioyee numbers - . ‘ ) Number Number
Managers o T _ o 42 44
Clerical and other staff _ . ) . - 80 84

: 122 128
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3. Operating expenses (con’tinued)

Audrtor s remuneration ’ :
Amounts paid to the Company's auditors for statutory audnt and other services are set out below. All audit-related and
other services are approved by the RBS Group Audit Committee and are subiject to strict contrals to ensure the external
. auditor’s independence is unaffected by the provision of other services. The RBS Group Audit Committee recognises that
for certain assignments the auditors are best placed to perform the work economically; for other work - the Company
selects the supplier best placed to meet its requirements. The Company’s auditors are permitted to tender for such work
. in competition with other firms where the work is permissible under audit indeperidence rules.

On 24 March 2016 Deloitte LLP (Deloitte) resigned as the Company s auditors and at the Annual General Meeting on’ 16
June 2016 the shareholders approved the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP (EY) as the Company s auditor for the audit
of the 2016 annual accounts .

Amounts pald to the Company-s auditors for statutory audit and other serv_ices are set.out below:

2016 2015
£000 £'000
Audit services: . '
- Fees payable to the Companys auditors for the audit of the Company's annual financial ) .
statements A . _ . 63 63
- Other services 4 ' A : . 52 -
o R ' ' o " 115 ' 63

(1) Other assurance services pursuant to legislation-

In addition the auditor's remuneration for group reporting : audlt work ot £62k was borne by The Royal Bank of Scotland
Group plc, the ultumate parent company of the Company.

4. Pensnon costs
The Adam & Company Retiremenit Benefits Plan was merged with The Royal Bank of Scotiand Group Pension Fund -
effective 31 .December 2007 and all members’ interests_in the Adam & Company Retirement Benefits Plan were

transferred to The Royal ¢ Bank of Scotland Group Pension Fund at that date.

The Adam & Company.scheme was closed to riew entrants from 1 January 2003. Beneftts contlnue to accrue for exrstmg
members within The Royal Bank of Scottand Group Pension Fund

Employees who joined the Company after 1 January 2003 were eligible to join The Royal Bank of Scotland Group
Pension Fund until October 2006, when it was closed to' new entrants. After this date, new entrants have instead been
offered membership of The Royal Bank of Scotland Retirement Savmgs Plan; a defined contnbutlon pensron scheme

For full disclosure of the schemes refer to the accounts of The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc.
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2016 2015
. . £'000 £'000
‘Chairman and _non-executi\(e directors - emoluments . i o 73 72
Executive directors - emoluments ' . ‘ } 486 606 .
' ' . . 4 L 559 678
Number of directors to whom retrrement benefits are ac¢ruing in respect of
- qualifying service: .
- money purchase schemes ) _ . ' - 3 2
- defined benefit schemes - B ‘ - 1
The total erﬁolhments of the highest paid director were £408,522 (201 5: £4‘75,283).'
_The executive directors may also participate in ih_e RBS’s executi\/e share plans end share save schemes.
'6. Taxation : : ‘
) 2016 2015
Current taxation: .. ’ £'000 £'000
United Kingdom corporation tax at 20% (2015 20. 25%) . ) ) :
Charge for the year _ . 2,787 463
{Over)/under provision in respect of prior years C __ (11) 6
_ Total current taxation ‘ ' 2,776 469
Deferred taxation: - .
(Credit)/charge for the year ) ' ) (6) 29
Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years ' 20 (63)°
Total deferred taxation , 14 (34)
Tax charge for the year . » ' e 2,790 435

" ADAM & COMPANY PLC

- NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘for the year ended 31 December 2016

™

5. Emoluments of directors

$C083026

The actual tax charge differs from the expected tax charge computed by applyrng main rate of UK corporatlon tax of 20%

(201 5:20.25%) as follows:

- 2016 2015
i : : £'000 __£'000
Operating profit before tax R , - "~ 9,555 2,201
Expected tax charge . ' o ' - 1,910 445
Factors affecting the charge for the year ) _
. Non-deductible items . : : ' - () 89
‘ Surcharge on banking companies. . ‘ ' : 796 -
Movement in deferred tax asset following mtroductron of surcharge on banking companies (1) (42)
Prior. years adjustments: ' . - 9 (57)
. ‘Actual tax charge for the year ‘ . o 2,790 435

The effective tax rate for the‘ year was 29.2% (2015: 19.76%).
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6. Taxation (continued) *

The'main rate of UK Corporation Tax will reduce from 20% to 19% from 1-April 2017 and to 17% from 1 April 2020. Under
the ‘Finance (No 2) Act 2015 the Company is also subject to Banking Surcharge 8% rate which applies to the relevant
banking profits from 1 January 2016. The closing deferred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated taking into

account that these may unwind in periods subject to the reduced rates and the banking surcharge inclusive rate in
.respect of banking temporary d|fferences . . ;

7. Ordmary D|V|dends

2016 2015
o £'000 __£000
An interim dividend of 51.2p (2015: nil) per share ' - 10,000 -

No final dividend was paid.
8. Financial instruments '

The foilowi'ng'tables analyse the financial assets and financial liabilities in accordance with the categofies of financial
instruments in International Accounting Standards (IAS) 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' Assets
and Liabilities outs:de the scope of IAS 39 are shown separately. :

Desugnated
as at fair )
value : . Non
through .~ Other. financial
profitor. Loansand (amortised assets / )
. . . loss receivables © cost) liabilities Total
2016 B : ) . £'000 £000 . £000 £'000 £'000
_ Assets. ' o
~ Cash and balances at central banks : . - 229 - - 229
Loans and advances to banks'"" -+ 1,384,668 - .= 1,384,668
Loans and advances to customers - - 660,235 —_— . 660,235
‘Settlement balances : A - 1207 - - 1,207
" Property, plant-and equipment ' o - - - 563 - 563
Deferred tax asset o S - . - 130 © - 130
Prepayments accrued income and other assets : - - - .24,426 - 24,426 -
: - . 2,046,339 . - 25,119 2,071,458
Liabilities . - ) ’ -
‘Deposits by banks® .- : . - 182,150 . -+ 182,150
Customer accounts . : : . - , - 1,777,292 - 1,777,292
- Settlement balances " " - - 3 - 3
Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities ) - ' - - 27,325 27,325
Provisions for liabilities and charges : A . - . - - . 1,948 1,948 -
' : ‘ - - 1,959,445 29,273 1,988,718
Equity C L : _ ~ ' 82,740
' o ‘ 2,071,458

For.notes relating to this tablé, refer to page 24.
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8. Financial instruments (contmued)

' Designated

SC083026 -

14

as at fair : “Non
value : ~ Other financial
~ through Loans and (amortised”~  assets/

] ) profitorloss  receivables cost) liabilities Total
2015 £'00i) : £'000 £'000 £'000 -£'000
Assets i o :

Cash and balances at central banks - - 377 - - 377
Loans and advances to banks!" - 1,264,058 ° - - 1,264,058
Loans and advances to customers - 651 ,d44 . - - 651,044
Settlement balances . 326 - - .326
Property, plant and equipment - - . - 770 770
Derivatives 14 - - -
-Deferred tax asset . : - - - 144 144
. Prepayments, accrued income and other assets - - 4 - 23,825 23,825
_ : ' .14 _1,915805 . - - 24,739 1,940,558
Liabilities ' . -
Deposits by banks® - - < 178,175 - 178,175,
Customer accounts - - 1639705 - 1,639,705
Settlement balances - . 91 - o1
Derivatives 10 - - - 10
Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities - ’ - Y- . 34,744 34,744
Provisions for liabilities and charges - ) - ) - 1,948 1,948
L ' 10 - 1,817,881 36,692 1,854,583
Equity ) 85,975
' - 1,940,558
()" Includes items in the course of collection from other banks of RBS £355k (2015; £471K).
2)  Includes items in the course of transmission to other banks of RBS £683k (2615: £nil).
. The following table shows the financial instruments carried at fair value:.
2016 - 2015
Level 1 Level2® Level3® ~  Level 1™ Level2®  Level3®
£'000 £000 °~  £000 £000 “£'000 £'000
Assets . '
Derivatives - S ) - - - - 14 -
Total L : - - - - 14 -
Liabilities .
Derivatives  ~ . - - - - - 10 -.
- - - 10 -

Total - e

For notes relating to this table, refer to page 25. -
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8.

Financia! Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value (but fair value dlsclosures are

KU)

@

®

requrred)
2016 o 2015
Level 1" Level2® Level3® Level 1 Level2® Level 3®
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 . £'000
Assets ‘ ' . S
Cash and balances at central banks 229 - B - - 377 - -
Loans and advances to banks . ) - 1,384,668 - .- 1,264,058 -
Loans and advances to customers - A 657,912 - - 653,628
Settlement balances asset . . - - 1207 . - - 326
Total - 229 1,384,668 659,119 377 1,264,058 653,954
Liabilities T _ E . . -
Deposits by banks - 182,150 -~ = - - 178,175
Customer accounts B - .- 1,759,116 - -+ 1,624,406
Settlement balances liability . - - - 3 _ - . - ‘ T
Total . - 182,150 1,759,119 - 178,175 1 ,624,407

Valued using unadjusted quoled prices in active markets for identical financial instruments. This category includes listed equity shares certain
exchange-traded derivatives, G10 govemment securities and certain US agency securities.

Valued using techmques based significantly on observable market data. Instruments in this category are valued using:

e . quoted prices for simifar instruments or identical instruments in markets which are not consrdered to be actlve or
e .valuation techniques where all the inputs that have a significant effect on the valuation are directly or indirectly based on observable
. market data.

The type of instruments that trade in'markets that are not considered to be active, but are based on quoted market prices, broker dealer quotations or
alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency and those instruments valued using techniques include most govemment
securities, investment-grade corporate bonds, certain mortgage products, certain bank and bridge Ioans repos and reverse repos, less liquid equities,
state and municipal obligations; most physical commodities, investment contracts issued by RBS life assurance businesses and certain money market

- securities and loan commitments and most OTC derivatives.

Instruments in this category have been valued using a valuation technique where at least one input (which could have a significant effect on the
instrument’s valuation) is not based on observable market data. Where inputs can be observed from market data without undue' cost and effort, the
observed input is used. Otherwise,.the Company determines a reasonable level for the input.
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8. Financial instruments (continued)

The following tables show the carrying values and the fair values of flnanCIaI |nstruments on the Balance Sheet carried at
amortlsed cost:

2016 2016 2015 2015

" Carrying . ‘ Carrying '
value Fair value value Fair value
£'000 - £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets - . : : . . - :

Cash and balances at central banks . - 229 229 . 377 ; 377
Loans'and advances to banks. o - . 1,384,668 1,384,668 1,264,058 1,264,058
Loans and advances to eustomers B ) A 660,235 657,912 651,044 653,628
Settlement balances ' 1,207 1,207 - 326 326
Financial liabilities . )
Deposits by banks - .- 182,150 182,150 178_,175 ) 178,175
Customer accounts - . . 1,777,292 1,759,116 1,639,705 1,624,406
‘Settiement bafances - S . 3 3 1

The fair value is the. price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability-in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. Quoted market values are used where available; otherwise, fair
values have been estimated based on discounted expected future cash flows and other valuation techniques. These
techniques involve uncertainties and require assumptions and judgments covering prepayments, credit risk and discount
rates. Furthermore there is a wide range of potential valuation techniques. Changes in these assumptions would
significantly affect estimated fair values. The fair values reported would not necessanly be realised in an immediate sale
or settiement. :

The assumptions and methodologies underlymg the calculatlon of fair values of financial instruments at the balance sheet
_date are as follows:

Short-term financial instruments o : .
For certain short:term financial instraments: cash and balances at central banks, |tems in the course of collection from
other banks, settlement balances, items in the course of transmission .to other banks, customer demand deposns and
notes in circulation, carrying value is a reasonable approximation of fair value. .

Loans and advances to banks and customers :

in estimating the fair value of loans and advances-to banks and customers measured at amortised cost, loans are
segregated into appropriate portfolios reflecting the characteristics of the constituent loans. Two principal methods are
used to estimate fair value: . '

(a) Contractual cash flows are discounted using a market discount rate that incorporates the current- spread for the
borrower or where this is not observable, the spread for borrowers of a similar credit standing.
(b) Expected cash flows (unadjusted for credit losses) are discounted at the current offer rate for the same or similar
- products.

‘Deposits by banks and customer accounts’ :
The fair values of deposits are estimated usmg discounted cash flow valuatlon techmques

.
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8. Financial instruments(cohtinued)

Remaining maturity

$C083026

Less than ‘More than
12 months . 12 months Total
2016 £'000 - £'000 £'000
Assets - .
Cash and balances at central banks i 229 ' - . 229
Loans and advances to banks 1,060,308 324,360 1,384,668
Loans and advances to customers - 246,515 413,720 660,235
Settlement balances = 1,207. . 1,207
Liabilities _ :
Deposits by banks . 55,187 . 126,963 182,150
Customer accounts 1,777,292 ' - 1,777,292
Settlement balances 3 - 3
. Less than More than
12 months 12.months Total
2015 £'000 - - £'000 £'000
Assets . : '
Cash and balances at central banks . 377 - 377
Loans and advances to banks 976,412 287,646 1,264,058
- Loans and advances to customers - 276,071 374,973 651,044
Settlement balances 326 - ' - 326
Derivatives ' 14 - 14
Liabilities _ . _ -
Deposits by banks 50,382 127,793 178,175
Customer accounts. 1,639,705 - - - 1,639,705
Settlement balances 1 . 1.
10 -

Derivatives
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9 Financial Assets - impairments

The folIoWing table shows the movement in the provision for impairment losses for loans and advances:

SC083026

Individually .
. assessed Latent Total
. . . £'000 "~ £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2016 , ‘ 3,843 1,525 -5,368
Recovery of amounts prewously written off - S 301 - 301
Amounts written off o (1,125) - (1,125)
Credit to the income statement ' (424) (1,340) " (1,764)
Unwind of discount - L R . (203) - (203)
_ At 31 December 2016 S ' 2,392 185 2,577
"Individually ‘
assessed ©  Latent Total
: : t £'000 __£'000 £:000
At 1 January 2015 o . : - 6,753 680 7,433
Amounts written off ‘ ' S (2145) . (2,145)
Charge/(credlt) to the income statement . A "~ (346) - 845 499
Unwind of discount - . . (419) . - (419)
At 31 December 2015 o o ‘ . . ~ 3,843 1,625 5,368
-The following table shows analysis of impaired financial assets:
2016 L 2015 A
' Net book : ' Net book
Cost Provision . value Cost Provision value
£000 ~ £000 - - £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Impaired financial assets ' ' 4
Loans and advances to ‘ n .
customers ) 7,600 (2,392) - 5,208 - 12,659 (3,843) 8,816

The following tables show an analysis of past due but not |mpa|red The loans are classified as accruing loans.as no

impairment loss is expected

: . Past due
Past due Past due Pastdue  more than : ,
: 1-29 days 30-59days 60-89 days . 90 days Total
2016 B - £'000 . £'000 ' £'000 £'000 £'000
Loans and advances to customers 2,640 - 532 .~ 3,655 6,827

During 2016, the Company performed a review of management information sourcés which identified ihconsietencies in the
" categorisation of past due assets betweén source data systems. Deviations have been resolved in the cyrrent year and
prior year by restating each of the impacted disclosures in the financial statements The impact of this restatement has

been reconciled under the dlsclosure |mpacted _ -
o~ . " : . Past due
A Past due Past due Past due more than
2015 : - 1-29days  30-59 days 60589 days 90 days Total
As restated* £000 £'000. ~_£'000 £'000 £'000
Loans and advances to customers B .3,381 - - 287 - 3,668
2015 . .
. As reported - . ’ 1,853 ’ 11 - - 25,181 . 27,145
Adjustment 1,528 (111) 287 (25,181) (23,477)
As restated” . ) 3,381 = - 287 - 3,668
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10. Intanglble assets

SC083026

+  Software

‘Costs
£'000
Cost: .
At1 January 2015 . 2,853
Disposals (2,819)
Wirite-off of fully amortised assets (34)
At 31 December 2015 and at 31 December 2016 -
Amortisation:
At 1 January 2015 1,591
Charge for the year " 193
Impairment during the year (1,750)
Write-off of fully amortised assets (34)
At 31 December 2015 and at 31 December 2016 - -
Net book value. : ‘
At 31 December 2015 and at 31 December 2016 . ~
- S 7

In 2015, following the reorganisation of Private Banking, an impairment review at an RBS Group level was carried out
which determined that the recoverable amount of the Private Banking Cash Generatlng Unit ("CGU”) no longer supported
the carrying value in the Group accounts. The recoverable amount was determined using value-in-use caiculations. The

. assumptions used in.the value-in-use calculations for the CGU were based on the underlying budgets of all private
banking entities and included a number of key assumiptions. Based on these forecasts, the IT systems in the fi nanC|aI

statements at.a legal ent|ty level was written-off.

In 2015 ~|mpaarment of £1 ,069k in respect of systems W}ite off was included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.’

11. Property, plant and equipment
Cohputers

Freehold Short ' and other L

Premises leasehold equipment ~ Total
2016 £'000 £'000 - £'000 £'000
Cost:
At t January 2016 . 520 214 4,267 5,001
Additions . ' - - S .
Disposals - (177) (3,810) (3,987)
At 31 Dece’mber 2016 520 37 457 - 1,014
Accumulated deprematnon and amortlsatlon: . .
At 1 January 2016 71 - 181 3,979 4,231
Charge for the year 14 T 13 © 70 Y4
Disposals - (177) (3,700} (3,877)
At 31 December 2016 . 85 17 349 451
Carrying amount at 31 December 2016 435 20 108 563 .
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Spot and forward foreign exchange. .-

11. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
: Computers
Freehold Short and other .

. Premises leasehold . equipment Total -
2015 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 .
Cost: ‘ : '
At 1 January 2015 - 520 415 4,973 5,908
Additions T - 19 -19.

. Write-off of fully depreciated assets ‘ - (201) (725) (926)
CAt31 'De_cember 2015 ‘ 520 214 4,267 5,001
Accumuléte_d depreciation and amortisation: _ : ,
At 1 January 2015 53 373 . 4,578 5,004
Charge for the year ' 18 9 - 126 153
Write-off of fully depreciated assets - - "~ (201) (725) (926)
At 31 December 2015 ‘ 71 181 3,979 4,231
Carrying amouni at 31 December 2015 449 . 33 . 288 770
There was a loss of £110k on disposal of-assets during the year (2015: £nil).
12, Derivatiiles
2016 2015
. Notional i . ‘Notional o _
amounts - Assets  Liabilities amounts Assets Liabilities .
£'000 £'000 . £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Exchange rate related contracts : o . )
- 2,576 14 10

Derivative financial instruments comprise forward foreign exchange contracts. The Company does not trade in financial
" instruments with the exception-of that arising from facilitating customer transactions which involves buying and selllng
forelgn currencies spot and forward and matchmg these activities in the market : .

13. Prepayments, accrued mcome and other assets.

2016 2015
T £'000 £000 -
Due within 12 months: o
. Prepayments and accrued i income - - R 3,259 - 3,353
Other assets " . 21,167 20,472 .
: ’ 24,426 23,825
(1) Balances primarily consist of setilement balances.
14. Accruals, deferred incohe and other liabilities
2016 - 2015
" £'000 £'000
Due within 12 months: .
Taxation 2,776 481 .
Accruals and deferred mcome 1,782 10,399
Other liabilities ‘" 22,767 . 23,864
27,325 34,744

(1) Balances primarily céﬁsiét of accrued inpo'me and accrued Value Added Tax.
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15. Deferred taxation

Provision for deferred taxation has been made as follows: '

SC083026

2016 2015

£'000 £000

Deferred tax asset 130 144

" Accelerated . . :
capital o Other _ Other '

allowances Provisions provision |AS transition Total
, _ _ £'000 - £000 . £'000 £'000 £'000 -

" At 1 January 2015 o 63 ‘ 8 .22 -7 110
- (Charge)/credit to income statement _ ‘ 7 “15.° 29 (17) 34
At 1 January 2016 , ' o 70 23 T 51 - 144
(Charge)/credit to income statement 5 (17) (2) - .. (9
At 31 December 2016 75 6 49 - _130

The provision for UK deferred taxation has been calculated at 27% (2015: 28%), being the latest enacted rate of’
corporation tax, inclusive of the 8% Banking Surcharge. A deferred tax asset of £130k has been recognised for the
Company at 31 December 2016 (2015: £144k). This asset has been recognised in the financial statements following the
deferral of bonuses under the medium-term incentive plan, the provision for severance.and accelerated capital
allowances. The directors are of the opinion, based on recent and forecasted trading, that the tax due on future profits in
- the current and next financial year will exceed the value of the deferred tax asset. :

"16. Provision for liabilities and charges

Provision for

. Other Total
severance _provisions provisions
4 : : £'000" £'000? - £'000
. At 31 December 2015 and at 31 December 2016 B ) 183 1,765 1,948
(1) .The Company provides for future legal costs where there is a constructive obligation arising wuthm the next 12 months
@) - Other provisions compnse amounts due in respect of litigation.
17.  Called-up share capital
: - Allotted, called-up and fully o
. paid -Authorised .
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2016 2015 2016 2015
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Equity shares:. : .
Ordinary shares of £1 19,548 19,548 25,000 25,000 .
Total called-up share capital 19,548 19,548 25,000 25,000
Allotted, called-up and fully
paid Authorised
2016 2015 2016 2015
Number of shares Thousands Thousands Thousands Thousands
' Equrry shares: o . '
Ordrnary shares of £1 19,548 19,548 25,000 25,000
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18. Risk management

The major risks associated with the Company’s businesses are foreign currency, interest rate, conduct, liquidity, credit,
regulatory, reputational and operational risk. The Company has established a comprehensive framework for managing
these risks which is continually evolvmg as the Company’s business activities change in response to market, credit,.
product and other developments.

The Company has establlshed clear risk policies, including limits, reporting lines and control procedures. This framework
. is designed to provide tight control and is reviewed regularly by and is reviewed regularly by the Board and the Audit and
Risk Committee.

Market Risk’

Market risk is the risk that changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, prices, volatilities and correlations may have
an adverse financial impact on the Company’s financial condition or results. .

The Company does not maintain any material proprietary trading posifions and consequently has limited exposure to
market risk. The.market risk that arises-through the provision of products and -services to customers, being principally .
interest rate and foreign exchange risk, is predommantly hedged Unhedged market risk is small in accordance.with policy
limits.

The Corpany does not maintain material open currency positions.

Foreign currency risk

The Company upstream all foreign currency balances to their parent and as such the risk is managed- at this level,
residual mismatches are monitored on an ongoing basis and are reported to-the Private Banking Asset and Liabitity
Management Committee (ALCO) at least quarterly. .

The Company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is provided in 'the table below. The amounts shown are the foreign
exchange gaps in each currency and take into account the effect of forward foreign:exchange contracts entered into to
manage currency exposures.

2016 2015

. : Total Total

S B : : . £'000 £'000

US Dollar I ' . - (37) 7
Euro : - : N t)) - (5)
‘Other currencies . . o ' 167 58
At 31 December . ‘ : _ .- 129 60

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises where assets and liabilities have different re-pricing dates.

The Company manages-interest rate risk by monitoring the consxstency in the interest rate profile of its assets and
liabilities, and limiting any re-pricing mismatches.

The directors consider that the Company is not matenally exposed to adverse proflt and loss impact from interest rate
g voIatlllty as no matenal propnetary interest rate posmons are held.

Liquidity risk

The Company has built an appropriate fiquidity risk management framework for thé management of the Company’s short,
medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Company manages liquidity risk by
maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows and matching the matunty profiles of financial assets and iiabilities.

The contractual maturity. of assets and liabilities, shown in the following tables, hlghllght the maturity transformatlon which.

underpins the role of banks to lend longer-term but funded predominantly by short-term liabilities such as customer
deposits. In practice, the behaviour profile of many assets and liabilities differs from the contractual maturity.
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18. i%_isk mail'agemeni {continued) . o

'Liquidity risk (continue.d)' ‘ L

The table below analyses the contractual cash flows receii/able and payable up io a period of iiNemy years:

0-3 3-12. 1-3 3-5 5-10 1020
. S months months years years years -  years
'2016. o £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Assets by contractual maturity o
Cash and balances at central-banks 229 D - o - - -
Loans and advances to banks . 914,650 145,658 159,882 164,478 ) - -
Total maturing assets L - 914,879 - 145,658 - 159,882 164,478 - =
Loans and advances to customers - 147,028 - 99,487 148,816 71,470 - 193,434 . -
Total assets - . 1,061,907 245,145 = 308,698 235,948 193,434 . -
Liabilities by contractual maturity - : : )
Deposits by banks - . 7,493 47,694 64,968 45581 = 16,414 -
Total maturing liabilities : - 7,493 47,694 64,968 45581 - 16,414 -
Customer accounts =~ 1,730,373 . 46,919 - - - -
Total liabilities ’ 1,737,866 94,613 64,968 45,581 . 16,414 . C
Maturity gap - L . (675,959) -150,532 243,730 190 367 177,020 . -
Cumulative maturity gap S (675,959) (525, 427) (281,697) (91 330) - 85,690 85,690
Guarantees and commitments -
notional amount . .
- Guarantees m ) - 17,066 . .- - ‘ - ) -
- Commitments @ : 112,769 S - S : - B
‘ 129,835 - . - - B -
_ For notes reiating to this table, refer to page 34.
- 03 3-12 1-3 35 510 1020
. : o months months years years years years
2015 : “£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 __£'000
Assets by contractual maturity . o ’ ' : : '
Cash and balances at central banks . a77 - - - - -
Loans and advances to banks . 821,440 154,972 . . 127,396 160;250 - -
Total maturing assets . . . - 821,817 154,972 127,396 160,250 » - o -
_Loans and advances to customers 167,032 109,039 - 148,121 62,309 164,543 -
Total assets ©  ~ . 988,849 264,011 ' 275,517 222,559 164,543 -
Liabilities by contractual maturity . -
Deposits by banks’ 4,923 45,459 63,999 56,999 6,795 : -
Total maturing liabilities 4,923 45,459 - 63,999 56,999 - 6,795 -
. Customer accounts 1,604,639 35,066 - - - - ) -
_ Total liabilities ) 1,609,562 " 80,525 63,999 56,999 6,795 -
Maturity gap,v . (620,713) 183,486 211,518 165,560 = 157,748 . -
Cumulative maturity gap (620,713) ' (437,227) * - (225,709) (60,149) 97,599 97,599
Guarantees and commitments -
notional amounts . . ) )
Guarantees "® - s 17,539 - - - - -
Commitments @€ . , 59,377 - : - . - -

76,916 - - . - -

For notes relating.to this table, refer to page 34.
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18. Risk management (continued)

. Liquiduty risk (continued)

(1) The Company is only called upon to satisfy-a guarantee when the guaranteed party fails to meet its obligations. The Company expects most
guarantees it provndes to expire unused.

(2) The Company has given commitments to provide funds to customers under undrawn formal facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend .
subject to certain conditions being met by the counterparty. The Company does not expect all facilities to be drawn, and some may lapse before
drawdown.

(3) During 2016, the company performed a review of management information sources which identified mconsrstenmes in the categorisation of type of

* contingent liabilities and commitments between source data systems Dewations have been resolved in the current year. Impacted disclosures were
updated respectively in Note 19.

Financial assets have been reflected in the time band of the latest date on which they- could be repaid unless earlier
repayment can be demanded by the reporting entity; financial liabilities are included at the earliest date on which the
counterparty can require repayment regardless of whether or not such early repayment results in a penalty.

“If the repayment of a financial asset or liability is triggered by, or is subject to, specific criteria such as market price

hurdles being reached, the asset is included in the latest date on which it can repay regardless of early repayment
whereas the liability is included at the earliest possible date that the conditions could be fulfilled without considering the
probability of the conditions being met

The principal . amounts of financial assets and liabilities that are repayable after 20 years or where the counterparty has no
right to repayment of the principal are excluded from the table as are interest payments after 20 years.

Credit risk -

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss owing to the failure of clients or countérparties to meet their obligations to the
Company. The quantum and .nature of credit risk assumed in the Company’s different business activities vary
considerably, while the overall credit risk outcomé usually exhibits a degree of correlation to the ‘macroeconomic
environment. .

Credit risk organisation

The existence of a strong credit risk management organisatlon is vital to support the goals of the Company The potential
for loss through economic cycles is mitigated through the embedding of a robust credit risk culture within the business
units and a focus on thé importance of sustainable lending practices. The role of the credit risk management organisation
is to provide the business with the support necessary to develop and maintain a sound Iending franchise within risk
appetite whiie prowding strong independent oversrght and challenge. ‘

Responsrbtlity for development of RBS-wide policies, credit risk frameworks, Company-wide portfolio management and.
assessment of provision adequacy sits within the functional RBS Credit Risk Organisation (RBSCRO) within RBS under
the management of-the RBS Chief Credit Officer. The Company works together with RBSCRO to ensure that the Board’s.
expressed credit risk appetite is met within a clearly defined and managed control environment. Activities within credit risk
include credit approval, transaction and portfolio analysis, early problem recognition and setting standards for ongoing
credit i’ISk stewardship within the business areas.

Credit risk mitigation ¢

~ The Company employs a number of structures and.techniques to mitigate credit risk. Unsecured facilities are carefully

considered as to affordability and - repayment and generally represent.only the lower value exposures within the

Company’s books. A large part of the Company’s credit exposures are covered by security that is assigned a value below

the assessed market value in accordance with stated credit policies. These include a range of transactions, from retail
mortgage lending to commercial financing, with a security interest in a physical or financial asset.

The use and approach to credit risk mitigation varies by product type, customer and business strategy. Minimum
standards applied across the Company cover: general requirements, including acceptable credit risk mitigation types and
any conditions or restrictions applicable to thase mitigants; the means by which legal certainty is to be established,
including required documentation and all necessary steps required to establish legal rights; acceptable methodotogies for
the initial and any subsequent valuations of collateral and the frequency with which they are to be revalued; actions to be
taken in the event the current value of mitigation falls below required levels; management of the risk of correfation
between changes in the credit risk of the customer and the value of credit risk mitigation; management of concentration
risks, for example, setting thresholds and controls on exposure to a single borrower, the acceptability of credit risk
mitigants and on lines of business that are characterised by a specific collateral type or structure;-and collateral
management to ensure that credit risk mitigation remains legally effective and-enforceable.

Provision analysns '
Early and active management of problem exposures ensures that credit losses are minimised. SpeCIalised units are: used
to ensure that appropriate action to mitlgate risk is taken in a timely manner. .

Provisions are reassessed regularly as part of the Company’s ongoing monitoring process.
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18 Risk management (continued).

Credit risk asset quality :

Credit risk assets consist of loans and advances (mcludlng overdraft facilities), guarantees issued on behalf of clients and
financial instruments (measured at mark to market value) across all customer types Where . relevant and unless
othenmse stated, data reflects the effect of credit mmgatlon techniques.

The Company has made the decilsion to adopt the standardised approach to credit capital calculations. Under the

- standardised approach there is no requirement for probability of default (PD) to be calculated. Due to this decision, the
assets lent do not have a probability of default rating and have been classmed into asset quallty bands-based on a set of
assessment cntena and lhe expert judgement of credit professionals.

. Minimum Maximum
AQ1 . . . 000 0.03
AQ2 - : S 0.03 . 0.05
AQ3 . , : - 005 0.10
AQ4 : o 0.10 " .0.38
AQS o ' 0.38 1.08
. AQS6 ‘ ' . 4 1.08 2.15
AQ7 o 215 6.09
AQ8 : . ' 6.09 17.22
AQ9 : o . 17.22 100.00
AQ10 ‘ o ' 100.00

Larger commercial clients are assigned credit grades, based on various credit grading models that reflect the key drivers
of default for the customer type. All credit grades map to both an RBS Group level asset quality scale (illustrated above),
used for external financial reportmg by the Company, and a master grading scale for wholesale exposures used for
internal management reporting across portfolios. :

: The'f.o'llowing tables'provide an analysis of the credit quality of third party financial assets by asset quality grade:

Cash and -
balances at* Loans and Loans and : . ]

céntral - advances advancesto . Contingent

: _ banks to banks customers Derivatives Commitments  liabilities

2016 . - L ) . £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Intra-group balances with parent @ -. 1,372,844 v - - - -
AQ1 . 229 -11,824. 83,040 . - 31,594 2,720
AQ2 - - 75,408 S S e .
AQ3 _ - - 219,132 C. - .
AQ4 S ' - S - 121,766 - 34,987 3,188
"AQ5 ‘ - - 59,721 - 22,204 8,146

AQ6 : o - - 32,918 21,773 2,987 .
AQ7 , : - - 28,782 - - 1,153 -
. AQ8 ' ' - - - 888 - 498 C-
. AQ9 - - . - - 560 25
AQio® ' - - 26730 = - . - -
Accruing past due - - T 6,827 - . - -
Non-accrusl - : - - . 7,600 - . - . -
Impairment provusmns - - (2,577) - - -
Total - : : ' - 229 1,384,668 660,235 - 112,769 - 17,066

For notes relating to this table, refer to page 36.
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18. ' Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
As restated * .
Cashand - lLoansand Loans and v .
balances at ~ advances advances to - Commitments Contlngent
" 2015 “central'banks - tobanks  customers’ Derivatives .- ® 'habrlmes‘
As restated £000 ' £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
. Intra-group balances with parent @ - 1,230,594 . - . . - -
- AQ1 , 377 33,464 85,295 14 16,635 2,795
AQ2 ' S . 77,059 - - -
AQ3 - - 193,382 - - . -
AQ4 - - 152,964 4 - 18,422 3,276
AQ5 - - 60,562 ' - 11,691 -8,372
AQ6 - - 16,973 - - 11,464 3,070
AQ7 - - 22,280 - 607 o
AQ8 - - 4,606 . 262 - -
AQ9 - - 14,709 - - 296 26
AQio® - - 12,255 - - -
Accruing past due - - 3,668 - - - -
Non-accrual : 2 - 12,659 - - S
Impairment provisions .- - (5,368) - - 5 -
Total ‘ ‘377 1,264,058 651,044 14 59,377 17,539
2015 As reported . Adjustment As restated *-
~ Loans and advances to customers £'000 £'000 £'000
AQ1 - 85,295 85,295
AQ2- 77,059 - 77,059
AQ3- 193,382 - 193,382
AQ4 - 152,964 - 152,964 . .
AQ5 60,562 - " 60,562
AQ6 16,973 - 16,973
AQ7 22,280 - 22,280
AQ8 4,606 - - 4,606
“ AQ9 . - 14,709° 14,709 -
AQro™ . . 3,487 8,768 12,255
Accruing past due 27,145 '(23,477)' 3,668 .
Non-accrual 12,659 ) - .. 12,659
Impairment provisions (5,368) - (5,368)
Total ‘651,044 - 651,044 .

1) Balances included in this band represent Potential Problem Loans These loans are not classified as |mpa|red as there is adequate security in place to cover

the outstanding loan amount.

. (2) Previously intra-group balances were included in AQt. :

(3) 2015 Commitments and contingent liabilities are restated and reconciled in Note 19.
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18. Risk management (continued) '

Collateral and other credit enhancements received ]

Within its secured portfolios, the Company has recourse to various types of collateral and other credit enhancements to
mitigate credit risk .and reduce the loss to the Company arising from the failure of a customer or counterparty to meet their
obligations. These include: cash deposits; charges over residential and commercial property, debt securities, equity
shares and other financial collateral; and third-party guarantees. The existence of collateral may affect the pricing of a
facility- and its regulatory capital requirement. When a collateralised financial asset becomes tmpalred the - |mpa|rment
charge dtrectly reflects the realtsabte value of collateral and any other credit enhancements. -

-The following tables show year end loan-to- value (LTV) for part of the Company’s book. This represents the Iargest
product type (mortgages) and largest portion of the non-performing book. Non-performing loans represent loans where no
interest payments or principal repayments are being received by the Compariy. The remaining element not shown is all
performing and covers corporate lending of £30m (2015: £19m) and .non- mortgage retail lending of £153m (2015
£196m). . .

2016 - o 2015

. Performing Non-performing - Performing . Non-performing

Commercial real estate by average loan to ‘ S
value (LTV) ' £'000 ~ £'000 . £'000. ' £'000
<70% . . . . 27,751 o 2,510 ' 133,344 - 2,301

- >70% and <=90% o ' . 2,032 4,184 - 308 i - 7,577
>90% and <=110% - : - 730 ‘ 434 , -
>110% and <=130% . - . ' ’ 634 1,592 . - 2,250
>130% L : ‘ - , - - 425
Total with LTVs ) 30,417 9,016 34,086 12,553

~Unsecured -~ 2,619 - 272 10,155 1,595
Total book h ‘ ' 33,036 9,288 44,241 . 14,148
Total portfolio weighted average LTV ) 52.0% 86.8% . 535% . 90.4%

2016 ‘ ' 2015

" Non-performing corporate Ioans (excludmg Loans . Provisions Loans Provisions
commercial real estate) - £'000 "£'000 . £'000 ~£000
Secured - 980 83 2,282 268
Unsecured - - o - B 27 27 6 36

Retail exposures :

All borrowing applications, whether secured-or not, are subject to approprtate credit risk underwntlng processes including
-an assessment of affordability and the source of repayment. Pricing is typically higher on unsecured than secured loans.
For secured loans, pricing will typically, vary by LTV: hlgher-LTV products are typically subject to higher interest rates
commensurate with the associated risk. .

The value of a property intended to secure a mortgage is assessed during the toan underwriting pro.cess using industry-
standard methodologies. Property values supporting home equity Iendmg reflect mdlvndual appraisal valuatlons unless the
lending value is very Iow

The existence of coilateral has an impact on provisioning levels. Once a secured loan is classified as non- performing, the
realisable net present value of the underlymg collateral allowing for the costs associated with repossession are used to
esttmate the prov1$|on requtred .
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18 Risk management (continued)

Retail exposures (continued)

The tables below shows period-end weighted LTVs for the Company’s resrdentlal .mortgage portfolro splrt between
performing and non-performing. . . .
2016 2015

Non-performing residential mortg_ges by average loan to value (LTV) - . £'000 ) £'000
<70% - ) , 5,928 5,787
>70% and-<=90% , : S , 1,890 1,680
.~ >90%and <=110% ' ‘ : - 952
" Total . S . o d 7,818 . 8,419

Total portfolio average by LTV . ' B o 62.3% - 62.2% .
. Other mortgages _ 3 . . _ 93 30
Total A o ‘ . 7,911 8,449
2016 . 2015

Performing resrdentral mortgages by average loan to value (LTV) . £'000 - £'000 .

<70% : S ' 326,471 283,383
>70% and <=90% . : ' ' : 93,008 72,590
>90% and <=110% ’ . . . 5,858 © 9,635
>110% and <=130% ’ . , ' ) - -
>130% : - 954 - 350
Total 4 - ' 426,291 365,958
- Total portfolio average by LTV A , 55.4% 55.4%
Other.mortigages S ' . . 2377 6,725
Total ) - : - ‘ 428,668 372,683

Regulatory risk

“ Regulatory risk is the risk of material loss or liability, legal or regulatory sanctions, or reputational damage, resulting from
the failure to comply with (or adequately plan for changes to) relevant official sector pohcy, laws, regulatlons -or major
industry standards in the UK (location in which the Company operates).

The Company believes that maintaining a strong regulatory risk framework is fundamental to ensuring sustainable -
growth, rebuilding its reputation and maintaining stakeholder confidence. Accordingly, the Company’s stated regulatory
risk and compliance risk appetite is for no material or widespread breaches of rules, expectations, regulations.or laws,
individually or in aggregate. However it also recognises that genuine errors occur, and so thé Company accepts limited,"
non-material regulatory risk and subsequent loss. .

The Company manages regulatory risk under the ‘Three Lines of Defence’ model in line with RBS This model defines
responsrbllrtres and accountabilities in accordance with the following principles:

e The business units (inciuding business areas and support functions) are the first ‘Line of Delence’. They are
accountable for owning and managing, within a defined risk appetite, the risks which exist in their business area;

* . Independent monitoring and control functions are the second ‘Line of Defence’. They are accountable for owning
and developing the risk and control frameworks and tools which the business uses to discharge its
responsibitities; and .

o RBS Internal Audit and an independent Credit Quality Assurance function is the thrrd “Line of Defence’ and
provide independent assurance over the key risks to the organlsatron which includes an assessment of the
entire control framework :
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18. Risk management (continued) |
Regulatory risk (continued)

Conduct and Regulatory Affairs (C&RA) within the Company operates under these prrncrples as.a second line of defence
since reporting lines are to the RBS functron rather than ata drvrsronal level.

~ The C&RA function, reporting -into the Chief Conduct and .Regulatory Affairs officer, is responsible for setting: the
" Company wide conduct and compliance policy and standards, providing relevant, accurate and timely conduct,
compliance and financial crime advice and guidance to the business and ensuring controls are effective for managing
regulatory affairs, 'compllance conduct and financial crime risks across' RBS.

C&RA ensures appropriate reportrnq of all matérial-regulatory reviews and other reguiatory developments worldwide to
the approprrate Company committees, mcludtng the Board, the Audit Committee; and the Risk Committee. :

Plans to merge parts of the C&RA function wrth Risk Management were announced in December 2016 The change,
designed to take advantage of synergies across the risk, conduct and regulatory agendas, will take effect from 1 January
2017. Regulatory Affairs will move to Corporate Governance & Regulatory Affairs (formerly Corporate Governance & -
Secretariat) and Remediation and Complaints will move to Services Chief Operating Office. ' ’

The level of regulatory risk remained hrgh dunng 2016, as policymakers and regulators continued to strengthen regulatlon
and supervision. .

Conduct _risk

Conduct risk is the risk that the behaviour of the Company and its staff towards its customers, or in the markets in which it
operates, leads to unfair. or inappropriate. customer outcomes and can result in reputational damage, financial loss or
both. The damage or ioss may be the resuit of breaches of regulatory rules or Iaws or of failing to meet customers’ or
regulators expectatrons ' .

Conduct risk exists across all stages of the Company's relatronshtps with its customers, from the development of its
business strategies, through governance arrangements, to post-sales processes. The activities through which conduct .
risk may arise are varied and include product design, marketing and sales, complaint handling, staff training and handling
of confidential Insider Information. Conduct risk also exrsts if the Company does not take effective action.to prevent fraud,
bribery and money laundering. -~

The Conduct Rrsk Appetite Framework was establrshed in 2015 and contlnued to be embedded in the Company durmg
' 2016. Key elements included: -
e Migration to simpler, principle-based .policies with accountable -executives identified and roles accountabllltres
and responsibilities defined;
¢ Roll-out of RBS- wide policies, processes and strategic systems to tdentnfy and manage conflicts of interest
better;
Enhancement of the RBS- wrde survelllance programme; and
Significant lnvestment in anti- money laundering controls, governance and tratnmg

Aligned with the customer-focused vision to be the leading UK bank for trust, customer service and advocacy by 2020,
C&RA provides trusted advice and challenge.to the business, supporting sustainable growth, protecting customers and
standing up for fairess.-The Company continued to embed the conduct risk appetite framework in 2016. The framework
"ensures that conduct risk exposures are understood and managed in accordance with agreed risk appetite.- The
Company conduct risk appetite is based on its strategic risk objectives, with quantitative targets supplemented by
qualitative criteria focused on attaining good customer outcomes upholdlng market integrity, meetlng stakeholder
expectations and promotmg a strong nsk culture. .
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18. Risk management (continued) |

_Reputational risk A

Currently' the Company manages reputatlonal risk through a number of functrons pnncrpally berng Risk, C&RA and Legal

but also including those such as the Communications & Corporate Services division.

At'an RBS level there is an-RBS Sustainabitity management function and also an Environmental, Social and Ethical

(ESE) Risk management function. This latter function is responsible for assessing ESE risks associated with busrness.
- ‘engagements and divisions. The risk is viewed as material given the key nature of the Companys market reputation in

: achrevung its strategic risk objectives. . v

Concen!ration risk

Four formal frameworks are used to manage credit concentratlon risk. These are Product/Asset class, Sector Srngle
Name and Country concentration risks. ) - -

-Frameworks are maintained at an RBS Group level to ensure that the nsk of an outsized Ioss due to concentration to a
particular borrower, sector, product type or. country remalns within appetite. The credit frameworks are aligned to the RBS
Group’s risk appetite framework. .

The Group uses a product and asset class framework to control credlt risk for its Personal businesses. The framework .
sets limits that measure and control the quality of both existing and new business for each refevant franchise or segment
These risks and the limits set associated with them are assessed for appropriateness on a regular-basis.

_ The Company operates in the UK private banking sector and the directors consrder this a srngle class of business.

The nature of the business is supplying Iendrng services, amongst other services to _high net worth rndrvrduals thus the
most S|gn|f|cant concentration risk is credit risk. Please refer to the credit risk section within this note. :

Antr -Money Laundermg 4

. An annual Money Laundenng Reportmg Officer's Report is submitted to the Board and the FCA. Covering the operatron
and effectiveness of the systems and controls in place to comply with Anti-Money Laundering (AML) law and regulation, it

.also_describes the Company’s AML framework. in addition, it covers the systems and controls in place to prevent the
financing of terrorism and to ensure compliance with sanctlons as weII as embargoes and export controls imposed by the
UN, governments and other supranational bodies.

Operatlonal risk

Operational risks are inherent in the Company’s business. Operational risk losses occur as the result of fraud, human
~ error, missing or .inadequately designed processes, failed systems, damage to physical assets, improper behaviour or
from external events. The key mitigating processes and controls include risk and control assessment, scenario analysis,
loss data collection, new product approval process, key risk indicators, notifiable events process and the self certification
process. The implementation of these processes and controls is facilitated and overseen by operational risk teams, with
internal audit provrdmg independent evaluatlon of the contral framework.
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19. Memorandum items - | | V
. Contlngent Ilabllrtles and commitments
. The amounts shown in the table below are intended only to provide an indication of the volume of business outstanding
as at 31 December 2016. Although the Company is exposed to credit risk in the-event of non-performance of the

obligations .undertaken by customers, the amounts shown do not, and are not intended to, provzde any indication of the
Company s expectation of future losses.

-

" Restated -
' 2016 . 2015 %
. . . £'000 £000
_Contingent liabilities: -
Guarantees and assets pledged as collateral security: _ o .
“Guarantees and irrevocable letters of credit - . ’ 17,066 17,539
Other contingent liabilities _ o : - -
Total contingént liabilities * ‘ 17,066 17,539
Commitments: : -
Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to Iend - . '
Less than one year ' . ‘ 56,128 - 55,869
One year and above, . o ) ‘ ' 56,641 . - 3508
Total commitments * . . Lo ’ ' 112,769 . 59,377

. ‘During 2016, the Company performed a review of management information sources which rdentmed inconsistencies in the categonsatlon of type of-
contingent liabilities and commntments between source 'data systems. Devratrons have been resolved in the current year. Impacted discloses were updated
respectively.

Contingent liabilities - "7 Commitments

Guarantees and
irrevocable letters Other contlngem . ‘
"*2015 ) . : -of credit liabilities Less than 1 year 1 year and over

As reported - o ‘ 12934 - 16,763 . 58,812 e
Adjustment - 4,605 (16,763) (2,943) 3508 .-
- As restated ‘ K 17,539 - 55,869 3,508

Banking commitments and contingent obligations, which have been entered into on behalf of customers and for which
there are corresponding obligations from customers, are not included in assets and liabilities. The Company’s maximum -,
exposure to credit loss, in the event of non-performance by the other party and where all counterctaims, collateral or

" security proves valueless, is represented by the contractual nominal amount of these instruments included in the table.
These commitments and contingent obligations are subject to the Company’s normal-credit approval processes and any
potential loss is taken into account in assessrng provrsrons for bad and doubtful debts in accordance with the Company’s
provisioning poIlcy

Commitments

Commitments to lend — under a loan. commitment the Company agrees to make funds available to a customer in the
future. Loan commitments, which are usually for a specified term may be unconditionally cancellable or may persist,
provided all conditions in the loan facility are satisfied or waived. Commitments to lend include commercial standby
facilities and credit lines, liquidity facilities to commercial paper conduits and unutilised overdraft facilities. |

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees — the Company gi.ves.guarantees on behalf of cus_torners. A financial guarantee represents an irrevocable
undertaking that the Company will meet a customer’s obligations to third parties if the customer fails to do so. The

maximum amount that the Company could be fequired to pay under a guarantee is its principal amount as dlsclosed in
the above table The Company expects most guarantees it provrdes to expire unused. ’

. v41'r



' ADAM & COMPANY PLC o ' §C083026
| NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL.STA‘TEMENTS_ for the year endea 31 December 2016 ‘

19. Memorandum items (c_:ontinued)

Contingent liabilities (continued)

Other contingent liabilities — these include standby letters of .credit, supporting customer .debt issues and contingent
liabilities relating to customer trading activities such as those arising from performance and customs bonds warranties
and indemnities. . .

Additional contrngent liabilities arise in the normal course of the Companys business. It is not antrcrpated that any
material loss will arise from these transactions. .

Litigation

As a participant in the financial services industry, the Company operates in a-highly regulated environment. At any
moment in time it is likely that the Company will be involved in investigations and disputes. Such matters are subject to
many uncertainties and their outcome is often difficult to predict, particularly in the early stages. The.directors of the
Company have reviewed these actual, threatened and known potential claims and proceedings and, after consuiting with
the relevant legal advisers are satisfied that the outcome of these ciaims and proceedings will not have a material
adverse. effect on the Company’s consolidated net assets, results of operations or cash flows. :

The Company records a provision for a liability in relation to such matters when itis probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle an obligation résulting from past events, and-a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. '

. In many proceedings and investigations, it is not possiblé to determine whether any loss is probable or to estimate reliably
_ the amount of any loss, either as a direct consequence of the proceedings and investigations or as a result of adverse
impacts or restrictions on the-Company’s reputation, business and operations. Numerous legal and factual issues may.
need to be resolved, including through potentially lengthy discovery and document production exercises and
determination of. important factual matters, and by addressing novel or unsettied legal questions relevant to the
proceedings in question, -before a liability can  reasonably be estimated for any claim. The Company cannot predict if,
how, or when such claims will be resolved or what the eventual settlement, damages, fine, penalty or other relief, if any,
* may be, particularly for claims that are at an early stage in their development or where claimants seek substantial or
mdetermmate damages. .

There are situations where the Company may pursue an approach. that in some instances Ieads to a settlement
agreement. This may occur in order to avoid the expense, management distraction or reputational implications of
continuing to contest liability, or in order to take account of the risks inherent in defending claims or investigations even
for those matters for which the Company believes it has credible defences and should prevail on the merits. The
: uncertamtles inherent in ail such matters affect the amount and timing of any potentrat outflows. .

The future outflow of resources in respect of any matter may ultimately prove to be substantially greater than or less than
the aggregate provision that the Company has recognised. Where (and as far as) liability cannot be reasonably . .
-estimated, no provision has been recognised.

The Financial Servrce Compensation Scheme

The Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS), the UK’s statutory fund of last resort for customers of authorised
financial services firms, pays compensation if a firm is unable to meet its obligations. The FSCS funds compensation for
customers by raising management .expenses levies and:compensation levies on the industry. In relation. to protected
deposits, each deposit-taking institution contributes towards these levies in proportion to their share of total protected
deposits on 31 December of the year preceding the scheme year (which runs from 1 April to 31 March), subject to annual
maxima set by the FCA. In addition, the FSCS has the power to raise levies on a firm that has ceased to participate in the
scheme and is in the process of ceasing to be authorised for-the costs that it would have been liable to pay had the FSCS
made a levy in the financial year it ceased to be a participant in the scheme

Capltal Support Deed

The Company, together with other members of RBS, is party to a Capital Support Deed (CSD). Under the terms of the
CSD, the. Company may be required, if compatible with its legal obligations, to make distributions on, or repurchase or
redeem, its ordinary shares. The amount of this obligation is limited to the Company’s capital resources in excess of the
capital and financial resources needed to meet its regulatory requirements. The Company may also be obliged to make
onward distribution to its ordinary shareholders of dividends or other capital distributions received from subsidiaries that
are party to the CSD. The CSD also provides that, in certain circumstances, funding received by the Company from other
parties to the CSD becomes immediately repayable, such repayment being limited to the Company’s available resources.
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20. Net cash flows from operating activities

2016

SC083026

" 23. Divisional analysis

The Company oberate§ in the private banking sector, with 100% of business derived in the United Kingdom.

The directors consider private banking a single class of business.

43

2015
. £'000 £'000 -
Net cash flows from trading activities 6,996 3,154
Increase in loans and advances to banks and customers’ (50,922) (63,322)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, accrued income and other assets (1,468) 9,839
Changes in’ operatmg assets (52,390) (53,483) .
Increase in deposits by banks anc_l customers 14 ,562 31,069
Decrease in accruals, deferred income and other liabilities (9,722) (10,481)
Changes in operating liabilities 131,840 20,588
Taxes paid (481) (3,929)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 85,965 - (33,670)
21. Interest received.and paid
2016 - 2015
. £'000 £000,
- Interest received 30,352 $ 32,328
Interest paid (5,840) (6,232)
24,512 26,096
22, _,Analysivé of cash and cash equivalents
2016 2015
£'000 £'000
At1 January .
- Cash 377 460
Cash equwalents . 821,440 853,196 .
821,817 . 853,656
Nacmhmmmmwmm 75,965 (33,689)
_Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equnvalents 17,097 1,850
At 31 December 914,879 821,817
Compnsmg :
Cash and balances at central banks : - 229 377
Loans and advances to banks 914,650

821,440
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24, Transactions with directors

For the purposes of 1AS 24 'Related Party Dnsclosure Key management personnel are those persons having authonty
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any
director. (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. Key management comprise directors of the Company and
members of the Executive Committee. As at 31 December 2016, the aggregate amounts outstanding in relation to the
transactions, arrangements and agreements entered .into by the Company in relatlon to loans to d:rectors including
connected persons, or officers of the Company are set out below: .

2016 ' o . 2015
Aggregate amount ' ' _ Aggregate amount
outstanding _ outstanding "~ :
£'000 Number of persons .- - £000 Number of persons
Directors: . ‘ '
Loans _ . . - L .- oL . .
Officers: ) :
Loans : - .- "4 o 2

Al of the above balances are classified under Loans and advances to customers.

25'.' Related parties .

UK Government ' .

The UK Government through HM Trea's‘ury is the ultimate controlling party of The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc. Its
-shareholding is managed by UK Financial Investments Limited, a company it wholly-owns and as a result, the UK

Government and UK Government controlled bodies are related parties of the Company.

‘ Transactrons between the company, the UK Government and UK Government .controlled bodies, consrsted solely of
Corporation Tax and Value Added Tax.

vGroup undertakmgs :

The Company’s. ultimate holding company is The deal Bank of Scotland Group plc, and its immediate parent company is
Adam & Company Group plc. Both companies are incorporated in the UK and registered in Scotland’

As at 31 December 2016, the Company has been consolidated into The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc. Copies of the

consolidated financial statements may be obtained from Corporate Governance and Regulatory Affairs, The Royal Bank .
.of Scotland Group plc; Gogarburn, PO Box 1000, Edinburgh EH12 1HQ.

(a) Directors and key managers

" For the purposes of IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosure’, key management comprise directors of the Company and -
members of the Senior Management team. The following amounts are attributable, in aggregate, to key management: -

2016 © 2015

£'000 ~_£000
Loans and advances to customers : S - 4
Customer accounts | : ’ : ‘ ( - 3,926
Interest feceived - _ ‘ ' : - 1

Total aasets Co . T ) - 3,931

Key management have banking relationships with Group entities which are entered into in the normal course of business
and on substantially the same terms, including interest rates and security, as for comparabte transactions with other
persons of a similar standing or, where applicable, with other employees. These transactions did not involve more than
the normal risk of repayment or present other unfavourabie features. .
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25. Related parties (contihuéd)

(b) Related party transactions -
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Total expenses

" 2016 2015
£'000 £000
Assets A oo
Loans and advances: .
Parent companies 1 373,199 - 1,230,771
Other related parties, including fellow subsidiaries 1, 711 24,060
. 1,374,910 1,254,831
Liabilities . '
Deposit'by banks:
"~ Parent companies : o 217
Other related parties, including fellow subsidiaries -. 95,323 146,460
‘ 195,323 146,677
Other Ixabllmes accruals and deferred income: :
Parent companies 1,631 860
Other related parties, lncludmg fellow subsidiaries - 134 7,845
1,765 8,705
Total liabilities 97,088 155,382
2016 - .2015
£000 ~£000
Income - . '
_ Interest receivable:- _
‘Parent companies. - 9,806 9,420
Other related partles mcludmg fellow subsidiaries . 479 1,247
~ 10,285 10,667 .
- Interest payable:
Parent companies : o - (1)
Other related pames mc!udmg fellow subsndlanes (1,557) (1,587)
: (1,558) (1,588)
Total income 8,727 9,079
Expenses .
Operating expenses},
Parent companies 7,232 . 7,381
. Other related parties, mcludmg fellow subsndlarles 3 7,103 10,448
14,335

17,829
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25. Related parties (continued)

(c) Compensation of key management
The aggregate remuneration of directors and other members of key management dunng the year was as follows

2016 2015

, . : £'000 £'000
Short term benefits . . ‘ B 561 . 1,025
Post-employment benefits o a 80 119
Long term benéfits!" - . . : . 47 . 177
‘ : ‘ 688 1,321

(1) Long term benefits consists of Long Term Incentive Plans (LTIPs).
-26. Post balance sheet events

. There have been no significant events between the year end and the date of approval of the financial statements which
would require a change to, or additional disclosure or amendment in the financial statements. : .

27. Capital reeources (unaudited)

The following table analyses the Company’s regulatory capital resources at 31 December :
: ' Unaudited ) Unaudited

2016 . - 2015
£'000 £'000 -
Tier 1: ' . ‘ o '
‘ Shareholders' equity . 82,740. - 85,975
Deductions:v ) . .
Other regulatory adjustments : : (5,952) (1,766)
Total Tier 1 capital e - 76,788 84,209
Risk welghted assets by risk . ) . : ]
Credit risk . C : ) 395,434 427,783
Market risk ’ _ ’ L ) C ' ) . 241 C 1561 °
Operational risk ~ K - . 66,736 63,025
Total risk weighted assets _ ‘ ‘ o : : 462,411 490,959
Key capital raties @ - : . .
Tier1 -. ' _ L ‘ K o 16.6% - 171%
"~ Total capita! ' : : . 16.6%_ 17.1%

(1) The capital metrics included in the above table have not been audited for the financial years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015,
(2) Key capltal ratios represent capital as a proportion of risk welghted assets. ’

Risk werghted assets -

The Company manages ifs capital to. ensure capital cover at ieast meets RBS Risk Asset Ratio (“RAR”) requirements.
The capital structure of the Company consists of debt and equity attributable to equity holders compnsrng issued capital,
reserves and retained earmngs as d:sclosed in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

It is the Companys policy to maintain an appropriate capitali base and to utilise it efficiently throughout its activities to
optimise returns to shareholders while maintaining a prudent relationship between the capital base and the underlying
risks of the business. In carrying out this policy, the Company has regard to the supervisory requirements of the
Prudential Regulatory Authority (PRA). The PRA uses RAR as a measure of capital adequacy in the UK banking sector,
"comparing a bank’s capital resources with its risk-weighted assets (the assets and off-balance sheet exposures are
‘weighted’ to reflect the inherent credit and other risks). The Company has complred with .PRA requirements during the
year ended 31 December 2016. . . .
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